# ALLIANZ PENSION REPORT 2020 THE SILVER SWAN

# 28 May 2020

- 02 Foreword: Rebuilding social resilience
- 05 It is still about demography
- 08 The Allianz Pension Index in detail
- 25 What would a perfect pension system look like?





Even before the Covid-19 outbreak, societies were becoming more and more fragmented over several social fault lines: culture, education, wealth, place of residence. Many of these overlap: The cosmopolitan, well-educated, wealthy people live in (big) cities, whereas more conservative, low-skilled workers tend to live in the periphery. There is, however, one important social fault line that cuts through all these identities: the generation gap. With demographic and climate change (and now the coronavirus pandemic), the generational conflict has staged a political return after half a century. It's easy to see why. With climate change, we have to take decisive (and costly) action now to preserve the livelihoods of the younger (and future) generations. And with demographic change, a policy skewed to today's pensioners is not in the best interest of the younger generations who will eventually have to foot the bill. Climate as well as demographic change pitch the generations directly against each other. That's what makes responsible climate and pension policies a political minefield.

Our global pension report is aimed at shedding some light on the issue of pension policy. Is a fair bargain possible? To answer that question we have developed the comprehensive Allianz Pension Index (API), building on our previous research in the field.

In fact, it has been four years since we published our last pension report. So it's time again to take the pulse of pension systems around the world. Though some countries – notably France and Brazil – have embarked on ambitious reforms in the meantime, as a whole, in recent years, the pension topic has been eclipsed by other policies, first and foremost climate-related. That's a pity, in our view: Preserving generational justness and equality is as important as mitigating climate change. Social resilience has more than one dimension. This is a topic that is very close to our hearts. Protecting people and securing life-long financial well-being is the purpose of Allianz's business.

Therefore we hope that our analyses and rankings of pension systems around the world help revive the public debate about the right policy mix and the roles of public and private pension providers. Although everyone seems to be transfixed with Covid-19 right now, pension policy is a topic too important to be lost in the battle against the virus. In fact, it should form an integral part of every recovery strategy: It's key to unlocking precautionary savings and addressing growing inequalities. The stakes are high: If the looming pension crisis cannot be defused, the social fabric might become even more frayed and a further rise in populism, with all its negative consequences for economic and individual freedom, seems inevitable. Given the deteriorating demographic outlook, the window of opportunity for decisive action is closing fast. Pension reform fatigue is the last thing many countries can afford.

# FOREWORD REBUILDING SOCIAL RESILIENCE



Ludovic Subran, Chief Economist ludovic.subran@allianz.com

# EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



Michaela Grimm, Senior Economist michaela.grimm@allianz.com



Arne Holzhausen, Head of Wealth, Insurance and Trend Research arne.holzhausen@allianz.com

- The proprietary Allianz Pension Index (API) is designed to comprehensively analyze pension systems in terms of sustainability and adequacy. The index is based on three sub-indices and takes into account 30 parameters, which are rated on a scale of 1 to 7, with 1 being the best grade. The current edition covers 70 countries and is based on the latest available data as of March 2020.
- The first sub-index of the API combines demographic change and the public financial situation (financial leeway), building the starting point for any pension reform: These structural conditions are more or less given demographic trends change only over long periods of time and budget deficits are built up faster than they are reduced, thus limiting governments' room to maneuver. Many emerging countries in Africa and Asia score rather well in this sub-index as their populations are still young, and public deficits and debts are rather low. On the other hand, many European countries such as Italy and Portugal are among the worst performers: old populations meet high debts.
- The second sub-index of the API is the sustainability index, measuring how pension systems react to demographic change. The best performers here are Indonesia and Bulgaria, mainly thanks to increases in their retirement ages, coupled with disincentives for early retirement and the introduction of capital-funded elements into the first, pay-as-you-go pillar. At the bottom of the scale are Saudi Arabia, Sri Lanka and Malaysia, where the retirement ages are still 60 and below and neither early retirement deductions nor other demographic factors are in place.
- The third sub-index of the API rates the adequacy of pension systems, questioning whether they provide an adequate standard of living in old age. Overall, the average score in the adequacy sub-index (3.7) is slightly better than that in the sustainability subindex (4.0), a sign that most systems still put greater weight on the well-being of the current generation of pensioners than on that of the future generation of tax and social contribution payers. The countries leading the adequacy ranking have either still rather generous state pensions, like Austria and Italy, or strong capital-funded second and third pillars, like New Zealand and the Netherlands. At the bottom of the ranking are emerging countries such as Nigeria and Laos, which still lack a reliable public pension system at all.
- Combining all three sub-indices, the overall results range between 2.9 for Sweden and Belgium and 5.4 for the Lebanon. The trade-off between the sustainability and the adequacy of a pension system still seems to hound most policymakers. There is no country that stands out in balancing this trade-off: Belgium and Sweden come the closest, with scores below 3 in both categories (See Figure 1).
- What would the "ideal" pension system look like? Our analysis shows that for most countries, a better balanced system is within reach. In that respect, Covid-19 might serve as a door opener: The last months have taught the world that radical change and bold actions are possible. That's a lesson policymakers could apply to reforming pension systems as well.

# Figure 1: The 2020 ranking

	API 2020		Financial and	2020 d Demographic ng Point		2020 inabiltiy		2020 quacy
Weight:				19 1 0111	4	0%	4	0%
COUNTRY	Rank	Sum	Rank	Sum	Rank	Result	Rank	Result
Sweden	1	2.91	18	3.38	6	2.96	13	2.62
Belgium	2	2.92	46	4.26	3	2.85	8	2.31
Denmark	3	2.96	17	3.32	13	3.24	11	2.51
New Zealand	4				27			
		3.00	21	3.46		3.83	1	1.94
United States	5	3.04	11	3.10	14	3.29	16	2.77
Australia	6	3.13	10	3.04	16	3.34	22	2.96
Netherlands	7	3.13	39	4.00	30	3.87	2	1.95
Norway	8	3.16	16	3.28	29	3.86	10	2.39
Bulgaria	9	3.16	32	3.80	2	2.67	36	3.33
Canada	10	3.24	20	3.42	26	3.80	12	2.59
China	10	3.25	46	4.26	5	2.94	26	3.06
Czech Republic	12	3.26	42	4.16	4	2.86	34	3.22
Latvia	13	3.27	26	3.64	17	3.36	23	2.99
Ireland	14	3.31	41	4.12	9	3.14	27	3.08
Luxembourg	15	3.35	40	4.04	39	4.10	7	2.27
United Kingdom	16	3.36	24	3.58	23	3.57	25	3.03
Slovak Republic	10	3.36	44	4.24	11	3.18	28	3.09
Italy	18	3.39	70	6.10	10	3.17	6	2.25
Taiwan	19	3.43	60	4.96	15	3.33	15	2.77
Kazakhstan	20	3.48	7	2.94	33	3.88	37	3.36
Finland	21	3.49	34	3.84	35	4.02	17	2.79
Israel	22	3.51	8	2.98	53	4.49	18	2.80
Switzerland	23	3.52	43	4.18	63	4.67	4	2.05
	23	3.52	66		38	4.07	3	1.96
Japan				5.52				
Estonia	25	3.53	28	3.70	42	4.16	19	2.81
Germany	26	3.56	56	4.76	21	3.52	24	3.01
Lithuania	27	3.57	38	3.94	12	3.22	42	3.74
Indonesia	28	3.59	15	3.20	1	2.48	60	4.89
Korea	29	3.59	62	5.22	8	3.12	35	3.25
Singapore	30	3.61	53	4.60	62	4.66	5	2.08
Peru	31	3.72	15	3.20	34	3.98	41	3.71
Malta	32	3.74	52	4.58	40	4.12	21	2.93
Russia	33	3.78	25	3.62	22	3.56	49	4.09
Austria	34	3.84	65	5.50	51	4.45	10	2.39
Mexico	35	3.84	15	3.20	7	3.12	58	4.89
Egypt	36	3.88	12	3.12	20	3.48	54	4.66
Philippines	37	3.91	2	2.44	25	3.71	57	4.85
	38		23		31		51	
India		3.91		3.54		3.87		4.15
Hong Kong SAR	39	3.92	36	3.86	46	4.35	38	3.52
Colombia	41	3.93	30	3.72	41	4.13	43	3.84
South Africa	41	3.93	6	2.88	24	3.59	55	4.80
Turkey	42	3.95	50	4.34	19	3.40	52	4.30
Brazil	43	3.98	58	4.82	45	4.34	32	3.20
Spain	43	3.98	67	5.88	47	4.39	14	2.63
Hungary	45	4.05	54	4.68	59	4.59	31	3.19
Croatia	46	4.05	55	4.70	38	4.10	40	3.69
Slovenia	47	4.07	63	5.28	50	4.43	29	3.12
Cyprus	48	4.08	57	4.80	61	4.64	30	3.16
Portugal	49	4.12	70	6.10	49	4.40	20	2.85
Romania	50	4.12	37	3.88	48	4.40	44	3.98
France	51	4.16	59	4.84	64	4.76	34	3.22
Thailand	52	4.10	47	4.28	44	4.70	45	3.99
Chile	53	4.22	30	3.72	60	4.61	47	4.09
Poland	54	4.27	61	5.10	36	4.05	46	4.08
Kenya	55	4.33	4	2.84	43	4.25	61	5.15
Ukraine	56	4.36	51	4.56	55	4.52	49	4.09
Vietnam	57	4.37	48	4.30	32	3.87	60	4.89
Greece	58	4.43	70	6.10	52	4.47	39	3.56
Argentina	59	4.46	22	3.50	58	4.58	56	4.82
Morocco	60	4.47	34	3.84	18	3.36	67	5.88
Malaysia	61	4.52	5	2.86	70	5.72	51	4.15
Kuwait	62	4.59	35	3.84	67	4.96	53	4.59
Laos	63	4.63	3	2.62	28	3.85	69	6.41
Nigeria	64	4.63	1	1.46	57	4.58	68	6.27
•								
Bahrain	65	4.70	27	3.68	56	4.55	62	5.37
Qatar	66	4.78	19	3.40	66	4.87	63	5.38
Saudi Arabia	67	5.03	10	3.04	68	5.32	65	5.74
Sri Lanka	68	5.18	32	3.80	69	5.61	64	5.46
United Arab Emirates	69	5.29	64	5.28	65	4.77	66	5.83
Lebanon	70	5.45	49	4.32	54	4.50	70	6.97
Lengilli	10	0.40	49	4.32	J4	4.00	10	0.97

# IT IS STILL ALL ABOUT DEMOGRAPHY

Never before has life expectancy been as high as it is today, ranging from an average 63 years in Africa to 83 years in Australia and New Zealand, and demographers are optimistic that it is going to increase by another four years<sup>1</sup> globally until mid-century. As a consequence, the worldwide number of people in retirement age is set to more than double within the next thirty years from 728mn today to more than 1.5bn in 2050. Despite this development "aging" has vanished from the headlines in recent years and so has the pension reform assiduity of many governments. Instead, pension reforms have been postponed, alreadv adopted measures revoked or new and costly benefits introduced. This is of course much more popular than pointing out the costs that are associated with the aging of societies, due to an increasing need for nursing care and rising health expenditures for example, or than to address the need to make the retirement system demographyproof, which might imply a cut of used to pension benefit levels. The favorable economic development and the fact that demographic change is still not felt in its full extent have abetted this attitude; in industrialized countries, most baby boomers are still active on the labor market, while in emerging countries the population share of people in retirement age is still relatively low.

However, this situation is going to change markedly, as demographic change is set to accelerate within the next decades. Due to increasing life expectancy and declining fertility rates, the share of people aged 65 and older in the world population is going to increase from 9% today to 16% in 2050,

i.e., within the next 30 years, the world population is going to age more rapidly than during the past 70. The steepest rise will be observed in Asia and Latin America, where this share is set to more than double from just under 9% to 18% and 19% respectively. In Northern America as well as Australia and New Zealand the development is going to be less dynamic, where the ratios are set to increase from 16% and 17% respectively to 23% by mid-century. The same holds true for Europe, which will nevertheless remain the oldest continent, with the share of silver agers in its total population rising from 19% to 28%. Exception to the rule is Africa, where aging is going to play only a minor role in the long run, with the share of elderlies reaching a mere 6% in 2050 (see Figure 2).



Source: UN Population Division

### Allianz Research

Although, the long-run effects of the new Corona virus on average life expectancy are still unclear, the underlying major demographic trends are going to remain intact. Thus, policy makers need to urgently find ways to master the balance between ensuring that pension systems provide a decent living standard in old-age for an increasing share of the population on the one hand and not overburdening future younger generations on the other. Against this demographic background, merely pay-as-you-go financed systems, where the contributions of the workforce population are used to finance the pensions of current retirees, will not meet both requirements in the long-run due to the trade-off between financial sustainability and pension adequacy. In order to secure a decent living standard in old-age, complementary capital-funded old-age provision is going to be necessary, even if the present low interest-rate environment does not spur its attractiveness (see box 1: "Negative interest rates: Causes, consequences and the way out").

With population aging accelerating, time to adjust pension systems is running out. The question is, how well are the pension systems prepared to face this double aging of societies, caused by declining fertility rates and rising life expectancy? Have there already been measures introduced to improve the long-term sustainability of the pay-asyou go system and ease the financial burden of future younger generations, like raising the retirement age, introducing demographic factors into the pension formula or lowering the overall benefit levels? Are there any incentives in place to spur additional occupational or private pension provision to guarantee future retirees a decent living standard in old-age? However, the current state of pension system differs markedly between and within world regions: While in industrialized countries the reform discussion focuses on higher statutory retirement ages and benefit level cuts in the pay-as-you-go financed first pillars, in many emerging economies the question is if the governments make progress in building-up a functioning social security system in time.

To answer these questions, we re-built the Allianz Pension Index (API) to get a more comprehensive view about the degree of pension system preparedness for demographic change in 70 countries. The API is based on three sub-indices: 1) the financial and demographic starting point, which represents the external framework for the pension system and decisively influences the need for reforms, 2) the sustainability of the pension system and 3) its adequacy. The latter two sub-indices comprise the intrinsic elements of the respective pension systems (see Figure 3). In total, we take 30 parameters into account. Each parameter value is rated on a scale of 1 to 7, with 1 being the best grade. The bands defining each parameter's grade are chosen in a way that the grading results of all countries are normal distributed. By adding up all weighted subtotals, the API assigns each country a grade between 1 and 7, thus providing a comprehensive view of the sustainability and adequacy of the pension system of a respective country compared to other countries. In the following paragraphs we present the results of the sub-indices in detail. For more details about the API, see appendix.





### Box 1: Negative interest rates: causes, consequences and the way out

Not long ago, nominal negative interest rates seemed simply inconceivable. Now they are a reality in many parts of the financial world as central banks in several jurisdictions have pushed policy rates into negative territory. At one point in 2019, one fifth of debt worldwide – roughly USD 16tn – has traded at negative yields.

What are the reasons for very low or even negative rates? They should be understood as the symptom of an underlying problem: On a global scale, there is insufficient investment demand to absorb the savings available. In other words, structural factors, first and foremost demographic change, the supply shock of China and low productivity growth, were the main drivers that depressed nominal interest rates as a result of insufficient demand for consumption and particularly investment – the mirror image of excess savings. While monetary policy decisions have also weighed on interest rates since the Great Financial Crisis, the impact pales in comparison to that of structural drivers.

Initially, lower interest rates were meant to prop up demand and growth. With the onset of negative rates, however, their adverse effects on the economy have come into focus. Negative rates might, for example, be detrimental to bank profitability as margins get squeezed. At one point, this negative impact on bank profitability might even reverse the supposed positive effects of loose monetary policy. This is captured by the idea of the "reversal rate" or "economic lower bound" of rates, which defines the level of the nominal interest rate below which rate cuts become contractionary for the economy, reducing bank lending.

On companies, too, the effect might be a double-edged sword. Naturally, low interest rates ease the interest burden of companies. Thus, even barely profitable ones can remain in business as banks engage in forbearance lending. The consequence is so-called zombie firms, which act as a drag on competitive dynamics – new market entries and exits have been declining for decades – leading to higher market concentration and market power. This hinders the diffusion of new technologies, depressing productivity and economic growth. Again, very low interest rates might yield the opposite effect of what was intended: not stimulating demand and investment but lowering it.

The effect of low or even negative interest rates on savings is also unclear: Low interest rates decrease the rewards of savings; as a result, households may reduce their savings and consume more (the desired reaction function by central banks, which hope to stimulate growth). This is called the substitution effect. But lower returns could also lead to higher savings if households target savings, for example as an old-age provision: higher saving efforts are necessary to reach the same outcome (income effect).

<u>Our research</u> suggests that the income effect prevails. For every drop by 1 percentage point in interest rates, savings rates increased on average by 0.2 percentage points in Europe. The differences between countries and households, however, are rather huge. Nonetheless, it is easy to see how such savings behaviors could become counterproductive: The consequence would be an increased supply of savings chasing a limited pool of (safe) assets and depressing yields further. Furthermore, more savings would mean less consumption, dampening growth prospects and raising deflationary pressures. Low yields thus become entrenched.

Is there a way out of the low interest rate trap? Raising policy rates quickly, i.e. embarking on a monetary tightening cycle, is certainly not an option. Such an interest rate shock would be akin to cold turkey therapy, which could easily kill the patient: Unfolding financial crises and economic recessions might wipe out what is left of trust in liberal and open-market economies. As monetary policy did not cause anemic growth in the first place, it is not the answer. Better to turn directly to the structural causes.

Some of them, luckily, will lose steam over the coming years. When all the baby boomers, for example, have eventually retired, cautious savings could fall. And the China supply shock might even go into reverse if the geopolitical rivalry between the U.S. and China, rising political (populism and protectionism) and pandemic (Covid-19) risks hasten the road towards de-globalization. But the root cause of weak growth – lackluster productivity gains and hence insufficient investment demand – will not go away automatically. Here, bold action is necessary, ranging from massive investments into infrastructure, education and research – to uplift demand in the short term – to market measures and structural reforms to revive competition and unleash animal spirits – to sustain productivity growth in the long-term. This would not only go a long way in escaping from low interests but also in building a fairer economic model than today's.

# THE ALLIANZ PENSION INDEX IN DETAIL

# I. Financial and demographic starting points – how much is the room for maneuvering?

While the need for pension reforms is universal, the starting conditions differ significantly between countries with respect to their financial leeway and the dynamics of demographic change. It is a question of social consensus what share of GDP a society is willing to spend for their elderly to honor their contributions to economic development and progress during their working lives. However, the financial leeway for future expenses is determined by the present levels of general government gross debt and expenditures on oldage benefits; the higher these two factors are compared to GDP today, the lower is the financial leeway for future generations and the more unbalanced the intergenerational distribution of the financial burden of aging. This applies all the more as old-age dependency ratios<sup>2</sup> are set to increase. In this respect, it is not only the absolute level of current and future old-age dependency ratios that has to be taken into account, but also the dynamic of demographic change: The steeper the increase, the less time and the higher the pressure to adjust the pension system.

As most pension systems are pay-asyou-go financed and state-subsidized when running in deficit, public expenditures on old-age benefits correlate positively with the share of the elderly in the total population, especially in those countries where the public pension system is the main source of retirement income. According to the latest International Labor Organization (ILO) figures, these expenditures range between 17.5% of GDP in Greece and 0.2% in Laos, where the current shares of the age group 65 and older amount to 22.3% and 4.3% respectively. In fact, besides Japan, it is mainly in EUmember states such as Greece, Italy, France, Austria and Portugal where the share of expenditure on old-age benefits is already markedly above 10% of GDP, whereas in most African, Asian and Latin American countries this share is still below 5% (see Figure 4).

The span of the public debt ratio between the analyzed countries is considerably wider: General government gross debt ranged from less than 1% of GDP in Hong Kong to 237% in Japan. Although Greece, Italy, France and Portugal, the four countries spending the highest share of GDP on old-age benefit expenditures, are also among the ten most-indebted countries next to Japan, there is no regional cluster as with public spending on old-age (see Figure 5).



Sources: ILO, UN Population Division, data refers to 2018.



Figure 5: High general government budget deficits limit financial leeway

Source: IMF, data refers to 2018.

The same holds true for the old-age dependency ratios, mirroring the development of the shares of the age group 65 and older in the total population (see Figure 6). While in industrialized countries the absolute level of the oldage dependency ratios is the main reason for concern, it is the aging dynamic in emerging markets that is especially worrying: In many emerging economies the old-age dependency ratio is going to more than double within the next three decades, that is, in less than half of the time this development took in Europe and Northern America. The most dynamic development will be witnessed by countries in the Middle East and Asia, with the United Arab Emirates being the most prominent example: Here, the old-age dependency ratio in 2050 is expected to be 16 times higher than today's, increasing from 1.5% to 23.4%. In Vietnam, the ratio is going to triple from 11.4% to 32.8 %. Although these rates are going to be still rather moderate in absolute terms, they imply a breakup of traditional family structures in countries where the elderly still depend the most on their children to take care of them in old age.

As a result, the composition of the 10 countries with the highest old-age dependency ratios worldwide is set to change markedly. Today nine out of these ten countries behind Japan are EU-member countries. By 2050, the top 10 places will be equally shared by Asian and European countries, including the so-called tiger states of Hong Kong, Singapore, South Korea and Taiwan, and the European EU-member states Spain, Greece, Italy, Portugal and Slovenia. However, there is not going to be any change in the first position: Japan, where the old-age dependency ratio is expected to increase from 48% to 74%, is set to remain the country with the oldest population worldwide.



The size of the bubble refers to the number of people aged 65 and older in 2050. Source: UN Population Division .

Taking the combination of financial leeway and demographic development into account, it is the Emerging Markets, where budget deficits, expenditures on old-age benefits and old-age dependency ratios are still relatively low, that have the biggest room for maneuvering (see Figure 7). - However, these are often also the countries with an urgent need to build up sustainable and adequate pension systems. - Nigeria, the Philippines and Laos have in our case the best financial and demographic starting points. On the other hand, Portugal, Italy and Greece are at the bottom of this ranking. These EU countries are not only among those with the highest budgetary deficits, highest expenditures on old-age benefits and the oldest populations today, but they are also set to rank among the ten countries with the highest old-age dependency ratios worldwide by 2050. Only six industrialized countries are among the 20 with the most favorable starting conditions: Australia, the U.S., Norway, Denmark, Sweden and Canada, mainly due to rather moderate increases of their old-age dependency ratios until 2050. Australia and the three Nordic countries also score with comparably low public debt levels of around 40%, respectively, and in the case of Denmark of only 34%. However, there are also exceptions to the rule among Emerging Markets. China, Thailand, Vietnam and Lebanon rank only in the lower half of the scale. In China, Thailand and Vietnam, the expected development of old-age dependency ratios blurs the picture, while in Lebanon it is the combination of a high budgetary deficit and a rapidly aging population.





# II. Sustainability – future costs: light luggage or heavy load?

The long-term sustainability of a pension system depends on how well it responds to future demographic changes. The questions are whether the retirement age will be adjusted to expected increases in further life expectancy and if there are any other built-in stabilizers in place that can induce the postponement of retirement in order to dampen the demographic effects on the pension system, like a minimum contribution period, early retirement deductions or a demographic factor in the pension formula.

Due to medical advancements and improvements in living standards, the worldwide average further life expectancy of 65-year-olds has increased by almost six years from 11.3 to 17.2 years since the 1950s.it is set to increase by another two years by 2050. This trend applies to all world regions, although there are marked regional and intraregional differences concerning the pace and absolute number of years (see Figure 8): The strongest improvement from the 1950s until today is observed in Asia, where the average further life expectancy of 65-year-olds has increased 1.7-fold, i.e., from 8.9 to 15.2 years for men and from 10.3 to 17.8 years for women. As a result, Asia changed places with Africa, which is today the continent with the lowest average life expectancy of 65-year-olds, reaching 12.9 years for men and 14.3 years for women. The highest average further life expectancy at this age is reported in Australia and New Zealand, where it has increased from 12.4 to 20.2 years for men and from 15.0 to 22.8 years for women since the 1950s. This is almost eight years higher than in Africa. Next in the ranking are retirees in Northern America with 18.6 and 21.2 years, respectively, followed by their contemporaries in Europe, where the average 65-year old men can expect to spend 17.2 years in retirement and the average women 20.5. By 2050, further life expectancy at the age of 65 is set to range between 14.4 years and 22.8 years for men and between 16.1 years and 25.3 years for women, with the lower range found in Africa and the upper in Australia and New Zealand.

On a country level, the life expectancy gap at the age of 65 is even wider. Among the 70 countries covered in our

pension index, it amounts to 9.5 years for men and 13.7 years for women, ranging from 10.8 years in Nigeria for men to 20.3 years in Hong Kong and Australia, and from 11.2 years in Nigeria for women to 24.9 years in Japan (see Figure 9). According to current UN estimations, this gap is going to widen further, with Nigeria expected to remain at the bottom of this ranking, where the average further life expectancy of 65-year old men is set to reach 11.9 years and for women 12.5 years in 2050. In Hong Kong, the average male retiree of this age can expect to spend 23.1 years in retirement and his female contemporary 27.8 years. In most Western European EU countries, this time span is going to rise above 21 years for men and to surpass 24 years for women, with France and Spain at the top of the regional ranking: In both countries, the average further life expectancy of 65-year old women is expected to exceed 26 years.



Source: UN Population Division.



Source: UN Population Division.

Despite these improvements in life expectancy, changes to the statutory retirement age are highly controversial. In many countries, there is a persistent reluctance to raise the pension age in line with gains in life expectancy, although the number of years in good health has increased, too. The latest example is Germany, where it was decided in March 2020 that there will not be any further increases to the statutory retirement age above the age of 67. Furthermore, it is still also the practice that the legal retirement age for women is lower than that for men despite their higher life expectancy. In most countries, it ranges between 60 and 65 years for men and between 55 and 60 years for women (see Figure 10). Thus in the 70 countries, the average statutory pension age for men is 62.7 years and for women it is 61.3 years. However, there are exceptions to the rule: In eight of the analyzed countries<sup>3</sup>, the statutory retirement age for men is also below 60 years, with the United Arab Emirates, marking the lower end of the list as Emiratis can already retire at the age of 49. In 13 countries, the current legal retirement age for both men and women has been already raised above 65 years<sup>4</sup>.



Sources: National social security administrations, ministries of social affairs and OECD.

### Allianz Research

As a consequence, the balance between the time span of working life and the time spent in retirement has deteriorated within the last few decades. Against the background of demographic change, 37 countries have passed pension reforms that include a gradual increase of the legal retirement age. The question is whether the agreed upon increases are sufficient to compensate for the expected improvements in further life expectancy. In order to assess the adequacy of these announced increases, we compared the ratios of the time span of an assumed model career to the average time spent in retirement today and in 2050. The assumed model career begins at the age of 15 and ends with the specific pre- and after-reform legal retirement age, while the average time spent in retirement is the average further life expectancy at the respective retirement age. Given the different pension ages for men and women, we did the exercise for both sexes separately.

According to this model, the average time span of working life is 2.6 times the time spent in retirement for men, ranging from 1.2 in the United Arab Emirates to 3.4 in Poland. With an average 2.1 times, the factor is slightly lower for women; however here the gap is smaller, ranging between 1.1 in the United Arab Emirates and 2.7 in Mexico. In both cases, the average factor is set to decrease further by 0.2 points in the case of men and 0.1 points regarding women. Taking into account the agreed upon reforms as of March 2020, the increases in retirement ages for men will be only sufficient in 13 of the 70 countries. However, these are mainly countries where today's legal retirement age is still 60 or below and is going to be raised to 65 in the long run, like China, Egypt, Indonesia or Turkey. In all other countries, the ratios of working life to time spent in retirement are set to decrease further, if no additional reform measures are taken. The strongest further deterioration of the ratio would be witnessed in Croatia and Poland, where the governments have annulled already passed reforms to increase the retirement age above the age of 65 in recent months. With regard to the pension age of women, there are 20 countries where the announced increases of the retirement age seem to be adequate. This holds

especially true for China, Indonesia and Turkey, where the retirement age of women is set to increase to 65 years in the long run. Thus, in the majority of countries, the expected gains in further life expectancy of women are going to be higher than the increases in retirement age, despite the fact that women's retirement ages are gradually being adjusted to that of men in many countries.

However, the actual working life span, especially in industrialized countries, is in many cases markedly shorter than the stylized one because of longer school time and periods spent in training, as well as an increasing number of broken career paths. This holds true especially for women, who work parttime or are not available on the labor market at all as they often take care of children or older family members. Furthermore, the effective retirement age in most OECD countries is still markedly below 65 due to generous early retirement rules (see Figure 11). Against this background, any further measures that lead to a postponement of retirement gain in importance.



Source: OECD.

In fact, in almost every country, individuals need to fulfill a minimum contribution period to be eligible to claim a pension, in most countries this is 15 years. Half of the analyzed countries have introduced pension deductions in case of early retirement, lowering the lifelong pension payouts, and some countries grant premiums for postponing retirement after the legal retirement age. However, less than a third of the analyzed countries have added a demographic factor in their pension adjustment formula that would dampen the increase of first pillar pension benefits in line with the gains in further life expectancy. Against the background of exponentially rising old-age dependency ratios, this implies that in most countries, contribution rates or tax subsidies have to be raised further in order to guarantee the promised benefit level, as most first pillar pension systems are mainly pay-as-you-go financed and if necessary subsidized out of the state budget.

However, where contribution and tax levels are already high, leeway for further increases is limited, as these imply additional labor costs. This is especially the case in many countries that are going to see the strongest increase in old-age dependency ratios, including Greece, Italy, Spain and Singapore, where contribution rates are markedly above the average 18.5% (See Figure 12). High labor costs can not only diminish international competitiveness, but also be a trigger of flight in the informal labor market to avoid contributions, especially when future pension payments are considered incommensurate with contributions made. Besides demographic change, economic downturns or crises like the one witnessed due to the Covid-19 outbreak, which cause rising unemployment and thus diminish the number of contribution payers and the wage sum, might also trigger temporary increases in contribution rates or state subsidies to pay for public pension deficits, which have the same effect as an additional tax and thus tend to slow down economic recovery. (See also box "Corona takes a toll on public pension systems")

Taking all these factors into account, no country actually scores high with regard to sustainability (see Figure 13). The best result is 2.5 in Indonesia, where the retirement age for men and women is going to increase from 57 to 65 years, the minimum contribution period is 15 years and the contribution rate below 10%. Second ranks Bulgaria, the country with the lowest further life expectancy of all EU members. Here the statutory retirement age for both men and women is set to increase to 65 until 2037; the minimum contribution period of 39 and 36 years, respectively, is comparatively high and pension deductions in case of early retirement, as well as a demographic factor in the pension formula, tend to cushion the effects of demographic change on the pension system. The same holds true for the Czech Republic, where the retirement age is set to rise to 68 years and early retirement is also sanctioned by pension deductions. At the bottom of the scale are Saudi Arabia, Sri Lanka and Malaysia, where the retirement ages are 60 and below and neither early retirement deductions nor other demographic factors are in place, which is last but not least owed to the fact, that old-age dependency ratios and thus the reform pressure in these countries are still relatively low.



Sources: National social security administrations, ministries of social affairs, ministries of finance and OECD.

### Figure 13: API 2020 - Ranking Sustainability



### Box 2: Corona takes a toll on public pension systems

The impact of Covid-19 on public pension schemes is less obvious but it's a heavy hit. This is because the pandemic triggered a shockwave in the capital markets, and tumbling stock markets and new rounds of interest rate cuts have diminished pension fund assets and private savings.

In most countries, the regular pension adjustment depends on the development of the average wage level. With unemployment and short-time work increasing during the crisis, the average wage level in 2020 is probably going to be lower than last year's. Thus, in the best case, pensions are not going to increase in the next year. In countries where there is no indexation, this will leave retirees with real purchasing power losses. Future retirees might also be affected by this sudden drop of the average wage level, in case their future pension is linked to the relation of their own income to the average income level. Thus, if no corrective measures are applied, in the U.S. "a middle-income worker born in 1960 could have his annual Social Security benefits in retirement reduced by around 13%, with losses over the retirement period in excess of \$70,000" due to this effect, for example<sup>5</sup>.

The pandemic also affects the tax and contribution payers. In order to meet the pension obligations, in the short-term, higher tax subsidies will be necessary to cover the declines in contribution income of the national social security agencies due to higher unemployment rates and short-time work. However, if labor markets do not recover in the short- to mid-term, increasing contribution rates will be inevitable.



# III. Adequacy – future standard of living: gourmet restaurant or fast food?

Financial sustainability is only one side of the coin. As important is the question of whether the pension system provides an adequate standard of living in old age. In order to systematize the adequacy of the analyzed countries' pension systems, we took into account the coverage of the respective public pension system, its gross benefit ratio as well as the availability of further pension income stemming from occupational or private pension provision or gainful employment.

One of the most crucial factors is the effective coverage of the pension system, i.e. the share of people in the working age population who can buildup pension entitlements and the share of people of retirement age who receive a pension. In most countries, coverage in the pension system is coupled with employment in the formal sector and earnings above a lower income threshold. Thus, there are marked differences between industrialized countries and Emerging Markets regarding coverage despite the fact that in all countries besides India, contributions to the public pension system are compulsory (see Figure 14): In most industrialized countries, 100% of the population of retirement age receive a public pension. In Emerging Markets, there are huge differences regarding the development status of the pension systems, with coverage ranging between 5.6% in Laos and 92.6% in South Africa. The coverage of the population at working age is generally lower, caused by later labor market entries due to longer education times, temporary part-time employment with wages below the lower assessment limit contribution or unemployment. But nevertheless the differences are obvious: While the coverage ranges between 60 % and 100% in industrialized countries, it is still below 30% in most Emerging Markets.

The distinction between industrialized and emerging countries is less evident with respect to gross benefit ratios (see Figure 15). According to ILO standards, the benefit ratio of a first pillar pension should range between 40% and 60% of an average wage as public pensions are often the sole source of income in old age. Actually, India has the highest gross benefit ratio<sup>6</sup> of all countries, corresponding to 83% of the average income, followed by Italy and Luxembourg, where the ratio is also close to 80%. Among the ten countries with the most generous pension systems are also Qatar and Vietnam, with benefit ratios of 75%. However, these ratios look less impressive if one takes into account that in India, the coverage ratio of the population aged 65 and older is merely 24%, in Qatar only 18% and in Vietnam 40%. For comparison: In the six EU countries ranging among the top ten of this ranking - Italy, Luxembourg, Austria, Denmark, Portugal and Spain the coverage is 100%. At the bottom of this list, with benefit ratios below 20%, are South Africa, Kenya and Lebanon, where retirees receive only a lump-sum payment.



Sources: OECD, national social insurance providers and national statistical offices.

18 <sup>6</sup> The gross pension replacement rates provided by the OECD refer to a male retiree who earned 100% of the average wage, see OECD Pensions at a glance, database. However, the actual national average can differ.



Figure 15: Generosity is not a question of economic development

Sources: OECD, national social insurance providers and national statistical offices.

However, due to demographic change, capital-funded old-age provision and other sources of income are going to play a greater role in retirement income. While in industrialized countries, benefit levels provided by public pension systems are set to decline in the course of already adopted pension reforms, many emerging countries have introduced capital-funded elements right from the start, factoring in the aging of their societies. In this context, access to financial services and financial literacy gain in importance as necessary preconditions for private oldage provision, which is needed to maintain the living standard in old age This

holds especially true for emerging countries, where informal labor markets are still dominating and thus only a small share of the working-age population has the chance to join a pension plan offered by an employer. In most of the analyzed countries, occupational pensions are voluntary; however, there are incentives like tax deductions or reduced social security contribution rates in place to increase the attractiveness for employers and employees. In many emerging countries, there has been a lot of progress with regard to access to financial services and financial literacy in recent years. As a result, in 60 of the analyzed countries, more

than half of the population aged 15 and older has an account with a financial institution. Only in Egypt, the Philippines, Vietnam, Laos and Morocco is this share less than one third (see Figure 16). When asked about the savings motive, between 5% of Egypt's population aged 25 and older and 67% of New Zealand's stated old age. Despite the accelerating demographic change, the share was only over 50% in fourteen countries<sup>7</sup>, mainly in industrialized ones. In contrast, in most emerging countries, old age was a reason to save for less than 30% of this age group.





Source: World Bank

<sup>7</sup> In alphabetical order: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Germany, Israel, Japan, New Zealand, Norway, Singapore, Sweden, Switzerland and the USA, see World Bank.

### Allianz Research

The structure of the pension system, the level of access to financial services and the awareness of the need for occupational and private pension provision is reflected in the amount of private households' net financial assets compared to GDP. Private households in countries with strong second and third pillars tend to have higher financial assets than their peers in countries where a generous pay-as-you-go financed public pension system is in place. The ratio of net financial assets to GDP is highest in Taiwan, amounting to 460%, followed by Hong Kong (412%), the U.S. (335%), Japan (280%) and Switzerland (240%). At the bottom of the ranking are Egypt, Kazakhstan, Nigeria and Qatar, where this ratio is still below 10% (see Figure 17). In order to take into account the fact that income and assets are not equally distributed, we also calculated the Gini coefficient for the wealth distribution<sup>8</sup>. This blurs the picture for countries where a large part of financial assets is owned by a small group of private households, like in Denmark or the U.S. for example.

Of course, it is often argued that equity market volatility and the low-yield environment render the need for occupational and private pension provision obso-

lete. Without doubt, the low-yield environment is a challenge for pension providers - and it is here to stay for the time being (see box "Negative interest rates: causes, consequences and the way out"). But the industry has finally learned to come to grips with low yields and has revamped their business models and product suite accordingly. And although equity market slumps destroy the value of pension funds' assets, past experience shows that most can cope with temporary setbacks (see box "Plummeting markets: The death knell for pension funds?"). Thus, in the long run, financial markets remain an indispensable source of additional old-age income.

Last but not least, we took into account the activity ratios of the elderly in the labor market, though this might be a double-edged parameter. On the one hand, a high and increasing share of people in retirement age still active on the labor market hints to the fact that the pension system fails to provide for a decent living standard in old age. On the other hand, it is a sign that the labor market absorbs also people aged 60 and older, which will become crucial when the retirement ages in many industrialized countries are increased further. Otherwise this reform measure would turn out to be merely a disguised cut of benefit levels. In fact, we observe the highest activity ratios in countries where pension coverage is very low. In Kenya, almost 70% of the men and 64% of the women aged 65 and older are still active on the labor market; in Indonesia these shares amount to 57 % and 30%, respectively. At the bottom of this ranking are countries like France, Luxembourg and Spain, where less than 4% of the elderly population is still active on the labor market, due to the average benefit level being comparatively high and the coverage reaching 100% (see Figure 18).

Combining the results of the two subindices, we find that New Zealand, the Netherlands and Japan, i.e., countries with strong second and third pension pillars, where private households hold high net financial assets, have the most adequate pension systems. The overall results are even just below 2.0 in these three countries. On the bottom of the ranking are emerging countries like Nigeria and Laos, which still lack a reliable public pension system at all (see Figure 19).



Source: Allianz Global Wealth Report



Thus, the range of the results in the adequacy sub-index is much broader, from 1.9 in New Zealand to 6.9 in the Lebanon, than in the sustainability sub-index, where the span is from 2.5 in Indonesia to 5.7 in Malaysia. Nevertheless, when comparing the results of the adequacy and the sustainability sub-indices, it is obvious that in industrialized countries, pension systems are still more focused on adequacy than on long-run financial sustainability, with the average score for adequacy being 3.7 against 4.0 for sustainability. This is last but not least owed to the fact that they were (re-)built in the 1950s, i.e., in times of the baby boom, when the aging of societies was no issue at all. That makes it hard for governments today to cut benefits for a population accustomed to them.

#### Box 3: Plummeting markets: The death knell for pension funds?

Back in 2008, the financial crisis caused strong corrections in financial markets. The Eurostoxx 50, for example, dropped by a whopping 44%. As a consequence, pension funds' assets lost value, too, but to a lesser degree than the stock markets, as pension funds typically invest only part of their portfolio in equities. For example, the Dutch pension funds' assets decreased by "merely" 17% as they had invested 43% of their assets in fixed income and only 38% in equities. Moreover, the resulting low interest rates led to an increase of the value of their bond portfolio. The asset values already exceeded the value of Q1 2007 in Q1 2010.

However, low interest rates are a double-edged sword: While bonds perform well, pension funds' liabilities go up even more. Interest rates are a key component of the discount rate, which is used to calculate the liabilities. According to the Dutch central bank DNB, a 1% decrease of interest rates leads to a 12% increase of the coverage gap between assets and liabilities. Until the third quarter of 2008, the funding ratio, a measure for the financial health of a pension fund, of the Dutch pension funds was still above 130%, which is a strong value and can be explained by stable interest rates. But the double whammy of plummeting stock markets and falling interest rates sent the funding ratio below 100%. Although the assets' value today is more than twice the level before the financial crisis, the funding ratio has not recovered and does not even come close to its previous peak value of 150%. The main reason is the low interest rates environment that drives the rise of liabilities, which have more than tripled since 2007.

According to the OECD, a funding ratio above the required minimum of 105% is considered a sign of a financially healthy pension fund. Once the funding ratio gets below a critical value of 95%, the central bank demands the pension funds to act, for example to increase the contributions or to cut entitlements. This is what some Dutch pension funds did as a reaction to the low interest rates, in order to recover from funding ratios below 100%.

The upshot: A drop in asset values is a temporary hit to pension funds. As long-term investors, they can afford to wait for the financial markets – and thus for their assets – to recover. The real driver of deteriorating funding ratios are low interest rates – which might now stay even lower for longer, given the devastating effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on private and public debt.

### Figure 19: API 2020 - Ranking Adequacy



However, there is no country that stands out as successful in balancing the trade-off between sustainability on the one hand and adequacy on the other (see Figure 20). Belgium and Sweden come the closest, with scores below 3 in both categories. In general, countries which manage to fulfill both criteria are at best upper midfield, with results ranging between 2.0 and 3.5 with respect to adequacy and 2.5 and 3.5 in the sub-index sustainability. Indonesia, which turned out to have the most sustainable pension system has at the same time one of the least adequate ones, ranking in 60th place in the adequacy sub-index, while New Zealand, which ranks first with regard to

adequacy is only mid-field when it comes to sustainability, being at 30th position.

Adding the financial and demographic starting points, i.e., the financial leeway and demographic change, the overall results range between 2.9 for Sweden and Belgium and 5.4 for the Lebanon (see Figure 21). There is no single outperformer; in fact the first 21 places are merely upper midfield, if judged by their scores. They are dominated by countries where the governments strengthened not only the funded elements but decided also to increase the retirement age. The best example is Sweden, where the first pillar comprises a funded sub-pillar, the upper limit of the age corridor for retirement was increased to 69 and the pension benefit is linked to the average further life expectancy of the whole population of the same year. The most populous EU members Germany, Spain and France rank only midfield, which should be taken as a hint for the need of further reforms. However, against the background of demographic change, time to fix the pension systems, in order to guarantee not only intra- but also intergenerational equity, is running out for all countries.



Source: Allianz Research

# Figure 21: API 2020

<u> </u>			
Sweden			
Belgium			
Denmark			
New Zealand			
U.S.			
Australia			
Netherlands			
Norway			
Bulgaria			
Canada			
China			
Czechia			
Latvia			
Ireland			
Luxembourg			
UK			
Slovakia			
Italy			
Taiwan			
Kazakhstan			
Finland			
Israel			
Switzerland			
Japan			
Estonia			
Germany			
Lithuania			
Indonesia			
Korea			
Singapore			
Peru			
Malta			
Russia			
Austria			
Mexico			
Egypt			
Philippines			
India			
Hong Kong			
South Africa			
Colombia			
Turkey			
Brazil			
Spain			
Hungary			
Croatia			
Slovenia			
Cyprus			
Portugal			
Romania			
France			
Thailand			
Chile			
Poland			
Kenya			
Ukraine			
Vietnam			
Greece			
Argentina			
Morocco			
Malaysia			
Kuwait			
Laos			
Nigeria			
Bahrain			
Qatar			
Saudi Arabia			
Sri Lanka			
UAE			
UAE Lebanon			

# WHAT WOULD A PERFECT PENSION SYSTEM LOOK LIKE?

Of course, it is impossible to overhaul an existing pension system from scratch. Instead governments have to implement gradual reforms, taking into account the legal claims of retirees and contributors. Furthermore, there is no one-size-fits all solution. But there are some components that help to make a pension system more demographyproof.

What would it take to be among the toppers in every sub-category of our API?

Most important is the coverage of the pension system: all people in retirement age and at least 75% of the working age population would be covered by the pension system.

The retirement age would be adjusted to the development of life expectancy to ensure that the ratio of working life to time spent in retirement remains at least stable in the long-run. In order to incentivize the postponement of retirement, early retirement deductions would be introduced, as well as incentives to remain in the labor market after reaching retirement age. The minimum contribution rate would be at least 15 years in order to make sure that people in working age do not drop out from the formal labor market after a short period of time. The benefit level provided by the first pillar would range between at least 40% and 60% of the average gross wage. However, when adjusting the benefit level, the development of further life expectancy would be taken into account. In order to cushion the implicit decreases in the benefit ratio of first pillar pensions, capital-funded elements would be introduced. In 2020, private households' net financial assets needed to amount to 210% of GDP like in Canada to rank among the top ten in this sub-category.

Last but not least, the necessary preconditions to build-up financial assets, i.e. access to financial services, would be provided for. In all the top ten countries, 99% of the population aged 15 and older had an account at a financial institution. Life-long learning, initiatives for healthy aging and labor market reforms would also enable people in the age group 65+ to stay active on the labor market. Otherwise, any increases in retirement age would be nothing but a hidden benefit level cut. In this context, the current Covid-19 crisis could offer a way forward for pension reform. In just a few years, baby boomers will start to retire en masse, putting pension reform back on the agenda with a vengeance. In this context, the drastic measures taken to recover from the Covid-19 confinement shock could embolden policymakers to finally take more courageous steps when it comes to pension reform as well.

### APPENDIX

#### Methodology

The Allianz Pension Index (API) consists of three sub-indices, which are differently weighted (*see respective weightings in brackets*)

- Financial and demographic starting points (20%)
- Sustainability (40%)
- Adequacy (40%)

These three sub-indices are based on five categories and eleven sub-categories taking into account in total 30 parameters (see Figure 22). Each parameter value is rated on a scale of 1 to 7, with 1 being the best grade. The bands defining each parameter's grade are chosen in a way that the grading results of all countries are normal distributed. This implies a relative judgement. By adding up all weighted subtotals, the API assigns each country a grade between 1 and 7, thus providing a comprehensive view of the sustainability and adequacy of the pension system of a respective country compared to other countries (see Figure 23).

### The sub-indices in detail

The sub-index *Financial and demographic starting points* takes into account two major exogenous factors effecting the need for further pension reforms:

 Financial Leeway (40%) - The financial leeway is determined by the current general government gross debt (30%) and today's public spending for oldage benefits (70%) in percent of GDP.  Demographic Change (60%) - In order to quantify the dimension of future demographic change we take into account the old-age dependency ratios of 2019 (10%) and 2050 (40%) as well as the percentage change of these two ratios (50%).

General government gross debt and nominal GDP data are extracted from the IMF World Economic Outlook database, source of the public spending for old age data is mainly the International Labor Organization supplemented with data from national statistical offices and public pension insurance providers. All population data is derived from the UN World Population Prospects database.

The sub-index *Sustainability* assesses, if there are built-in mechanisms that cushion the pension system against the impacts of demographic change, based on the categories

- Preconditions (60%) The category Preconditions is split into the subcategories Retirement age (80%), in order to assess if adopted increases of the retirement age are high enough to compensate for the expected improvements in further life expectancy, and Minimum contribution period (20%).
- Finances (40%) This category consists of the sub-categories Financing (70%) and Pension Formula (30%).

Data sources are the European Commission, the OECD and the respective national social security administrations and providers. The sub-index *Adequacy* is based on two categories First Pillar and Other Pension income, which are also split up in further sub -categories:

- First Pillar (50%) This category takes into account the Coverage (70%) and the Benefit level (30%) of the pension system.
- Other pension income (50%) This category is based on the sub-categories Second Pillar (20%), Financial Assets (70%) and Gainful Employment (10%).

The index is based on publicly available information of national social security administrations, ministries of finance and ministries of social affairs as well as on including publications of the European Commission, OECD, ILO, UN and World Bank as of March 2020.

Alliana Dongion Indox 2020 Mainhte							
Allianz Pension Index 2020 —Weights							
Financial and Demographic Starting Point	20%						
Sustainability	40%						
Adequacy	40%						
				Financial Leeway	40% 60%	Budget Deficit	Public Spending fo Old Age
Financial and Domographic Starting Daint		Budget and	4000/			30%	70%
Financial and Demographic Starting Point	20%	Demographic Change	nange Demographic	Demographic Change		OADR 2019	OADR 2050
				Change		10%	40%
		_			1		
				Retirement Age (Men/Women)	80%	MC/TSiR (2020)	MC/TSiR (2050)
		Preconditions	60%	(men/women)		10%	40%
		Freconditions	00%	Minimum		MCP	MCP

		Preconditions	60%	Retirement Age (Men/Women)	80%	MC/TSiR (2020) 10%	MC/TSiR (2050) 40%	Change MC/TSiR (2020 - 2050) 50%
				Minimum Contribution Period	20%	MCP (Men) 50%	MCP (Women) 50%	
Sustainability	40%		40%	Financing 70%	Financing Method	Contribution rates		
	Fina	Finances 40%			70%	25%	75%	
				Pension Formula	30%	Early Retirement Deductions	Demographic Factor?	
						50%	50%	

				Coverage	70%	Coverage 65+	Coverage 15-64	Obligation?		
		First Pillar	50%			30%	60%	10%		
		FIISCFIIIdi		Benefits	Benefits 30% Gross Benefit Ratio Minimum Pension					
						80%	20%			
Adequacy	40%	Other Pension		Second Pillar	20%	Financing Method	Obligation?			
					80%	20%				
					-	Access to Financial	Old-age as Savings	Private HH Net	Gini Coefficient	
		-	50%	Financial Assets	Financial Assets	Financial Assets 70%	Services	Motive	Financial Assets	Gini Coenicient
		Income				30%	10%	30%	30%	
				Gainful Employment	10%	Activity ratio 65+ (M)	Activity Ratio 65+ (W)			
				Employment		50%	50%			

Change 2019-2050

50%

			۵DI	2020							
	API 2020		API 2020 Financ			Demographic ng Point		2020 inabiltiy	API 2020 Adequacy		
Weight:			2	0%	4	0%	4	.0%			
	Rank	Result	Rank	Result	Rank	Result	Rank	Result			
Argentina	59	4.46	22	3.50	58	4.58	56	4.82			
Australia	6	3.13	10	3.04	16	3.34	22	2.96			
Austria	34	3.84	65	5.50	51	4.45	10	2.39			
Bahrain	65	4.70	27	3.68	56	4.55	62	5.37			
Belgium Brozil	2	2.92 3.98	46 58	4.26 4.82	3 45	2.85	8 32	2.31 3.20			
Brazil Bulgaria	43 9	3.96 3.16	32	4.82 3.80	45 2	4.34 2.67	32 36	3.20			
Bulgaria Canada	9 10	3.24	20	3.42	26	3.80	36 12	2.59			
Chile	53	4.22	30	3.72	60	4.61	47	4.09			
China	11	3.25	46	4.26	5	2.94	26	3.06			
Colombia	41	3.93	30	3.72	41	4.13	43	3.84			
Croatia	46	4.05	55	4.70	38	4.10	40	3.69			
Cyprus	48	4.08	57	4.80	61	4.64	30	3.16			
Czech Republic	12	3.26	42	4.16	4	2.86	34	3.22			
Denmark	3	2.96	17	3.32	13	3.24	11	2.51			
Egypt	36	3.88	12	3.12	20	3.48	54	4.66			
Estonia	25	3.53	28	3.70	42	4.16	19	2.81			
Finland	21	3.49	34	3.84	35	4.02	17	2.79			
France	51	4.16	59	4.84	64	4.76	34	3.22			
Germany	26	3.56	56	4.76	21	3.52	24	3.01			
Greece	58	4.43	70	6.10	52	4.47	39	3.56			
Hong Kong SAR	39	3.92	36	3.86	46	4.35	38	3.52			
Hungary	45	4.05	54	4.68	59	4.59	31	3.19			
ndia	38	3.91	23	3.54	31	3.87	51	4.15			
Indonesia	28	3.59	15	3.20	1	2.48	60	4.89			
reland	14	3.31	41	4.12	9	3.14	27	3.08			
srael	22	3.51	8	2.98	53	4.49	18	2.80			
taly	18	3.39	70	6.10	10	3.17	6	2.25			
Japan Kazakhstan	24 20	3.52 3.48	66 7	5.52 2.94	38 33	4.10 3.88	3 37	1.96 3.36			
Kenya	55	4.33	4	2.84	43	4.25	61	5.15			
Korea	29	3.59	62	5.22	-45 8	3.12	35	3.25			
Kuwait	62	4.59	35	3.84	67	4.96	53	4.59			
Lao P.D.R.	63	4.63	3	2.62	28	3.85	69	6.41			
Latvia	13	3.27	26	3.64	17	3.36	23	2.99			
Lebanon	70	5.45	49	4.32	54	4.50	70	6.97			
Lithuania	27	3.57	38	3.94	12	3.22	42	3.74			
Luxembourg	15	3.35	40	4.04	39	4.10	7	2.27			
Malaysia	61	4.52	5	2.86	70	5.72	51	4.15			
Malta	32	3.74	52	4.58	40	4.12	21	2.93			
Mexico	35	3.84	15	3.20	7	3.12	58	4.89			
Morocco	60	4.47	34	3.84	18	3.36	67	5.88			
Netherlands	7	3.13	39	4.00	30	3.87	2	1.95			
New Zealand	4	3.00	21	3.46	27	3.83	1	1.94			
Nigeria	64	4.63	1	1.46	57	4.58	68	6.27			
Norway	8	3.16	16	3.28	29	3.86	10	2.39			
Peru	31	3.72	15	3.20	34	3.98	41	3.71			
Philippines	37	3.91	2	2.44	25	3.71	57	4.85			
Poland	54	4.27	61	5.10	36	4.05	46	4.08			
Portugal	49	4.12	70	6.10	49	4.40	20	2.85			
Qatar	66	4.78	19	3.40	66	4.87	63	5.38			
Romania	50	4.12	37	3.88	48	4.40	44	3.98			
Russia Saudi Arabia	33 67	3.78	25 10	3.62 3.04	22 68	3.56	49 65	4.09 5.74			
Saudi Arabia	67 30	5.03 3.61	10 53	4.60	68 62	5.32 4.66	65 5	5.74 2.08			
Singapore Slovak Republic	30 17	3.36	53 44	4.60	62 11	4.66 3.18	5 28	2.08			
Slovenia	47	4.07	63	4.24 5.28	50	4.43	20	3.12			
South Africa	41	3.93	6	2.88	24	3.59	55	4.80			
Spain	44	3.98	67	5.88	47	4.39	14	2.63			
Sri Lanka	68	5.18	32	3.80	69	5.61	64	5.46			
Sweden	1	2.91	18	3.38	6	2.96	13	2.62			
Switzerland	23	3.52	43	4.18	63	4.67	4	2.05			
Taiwan	19	3.43	60	4.96	15	3.33	15	2.77			
Thailand	52	4.18	47	4.28	44	4.33	45	3.99			
Furkey	42	3.95	50	4.34	19	3.40	52	4.30			
Jkraine	56	4.36	51	4.56	55	4.52	49	4.09			
Jnited Arab Emirates	69	5.29	64	5.28	65	4.77	66	5.83			
Jnited Kingdom	16	3.36	24	3.58	23	3.57	25	3.03			
Jnited States	5	3.04	11	3.10	14	3.29	16	2.77			
/ietnam	57	4.37	48	4.30	32	3.87	60	4.89			

# Sources

- Biggs, Andrew G. (2020): How the Coronavirus Could Permanently Cut Near-Retirees' Social Security Benefits, Wharton Pension Research Council Working Papers. 675. https://repository.upenn.edu/prc\_papers/675
- Börsch-Supan, Axel und Johannes Rausch (2020): Corona und Rente, MEA Discussion Paper 11-2020, Munich 2020.
- Chong, Florence (2019): Japanese pension funds: Slowly but surely, in IPE Real Assets, March/April 2019 Magazine, https:// realassets.ipe.com/investors/asian-investors/japanese-pension-funds-slowly-but-..., retrieved on March 8, 2019.
- European Commission (2018): Pension Adequacy Report 2018. Current and Future Income Adequacy in Old Age in the EU. Volume 2 – Country Profiles, Brussels 2018.
- Fixsen, Rachel (2019): Sweden culls a third of investment options in state pension system, in: Investment & Pensions Europe, February 2019, p. 8.
- Government Offices of Sweden. Ministry of Health and Social Affairs (2016): The Swedish old-age pension system. How the income pension, premium pension and guarantee pension work, Stockholm 2016.
- Government of Ireland (2018): A roadmap for pensions reform 2018-2023, Dublin 2018.
- Hughes, Gerard (2018): A roadmap for pension reform 2018-2023 in Ireland, ESPN Flash Report 2018/25, May 2018.
- International Monetary Fund (2019): World Economic Outlook, October 2019, Washington, D.C. 2019.
- International Labor Organization (2017): World Social Protection Report 2017-2019, Geneva 2017.
- Moriarty, Jerry (2019): Pension reform: Signs look good for this year, in: Investment & Pensions Europe, February 2019, p. 29-31.
- Paakkinen, Reeta (2019): Turkey acts to address high rate or auto-enrolment opt outs, in Investment & Pensions Europe, February 2019, p. 9.
- Price Waterhouse Coopers.
- Sullivan, Mark (2019): Auto-enrolment grows globally, in: Investment & Pensions Europe, February 2019, p. 23.
- TSB, Insurance Association of Turkey (2017): Annual Report 2017, Ankara 2017.
- United Nations Population Division (2019): World Population Prospects, The 2019 Revision, Washington, D.C. 2019
- Worldbank (2017): Global Findex Database 2017, Washington, D.C. 2017. https://globalfindex.worldbank.org/

# National social security administrations and public pension providers (in alphabetical order of countries):

National Social Security Administration Argentina (2020): https://www.anses.gob.ar Services Australia (2020): https://www.humanservices.gov.au Australian Department of Social Services (2020): https://www.dss.gov.au Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (2020): https://www.apra.gov.au/annual-fund-level-superannuation-statistics Austrian Pension Insurance Institution (2020): https://www.sozialversicherung.at Austrian Service for Foreign Citizens (2020): https://www.oesterreich.gv.at Bahrain Online Guide (2020): http://www.mybahrain.net Bahrain Social Insurance Organization (2020): https://www.sio.gov.bh Belgium Federal Pension Office (2020): https://www.sfpd.fgov.be/ Belgium International Social Security (2020): https://www.socialsecurity.be Belgium National Social Security Office (2020): https://www.onss.fgov.be Federation of Enterprises in Belgium (2020): https://www.feb.be Folha de S. Paulo Brazil (2020): https://www1.folha.uol.com Bulgarian Association of Supplementary Pension Security Companies (2020): http://assoc.pension.bg National Social Security Office Brazil (2020): www.INSS.gov.br National Social Security Office Bulgaria (2020): http://www.nssi.bg National Statistical Institute Bulgaria (2020): https://www.nsi.bg Government of Canada (2020): https://www.canada.ca Social Welfare Institute Chile (2020): https://www.ips.gob.cl Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the People's Republic of China (2020): http://www.mohrss.gov.cn National Council for Social Security Fund China (2020): http://www.ssf.gov.cn Croatian Financial Services Supervisory Agency (2020): https://www.hanfa.hr Croatian Pension Insurance Institute (2020): http://www.mirovinsko.hr Ministry of Finance Croatia (2020): https://www.porezna-uprava.hr Office for Social Security of Migrant Workers Croatia (2020): https://migracije.hr Ministry of Labor, Welfare and Social Insurance Cyprus (2020): http://www.mlsi.gov.cy Czech Social Security Administration (2020): https://www.cssz.cz ATP Denmark (2020): https://www.atp.dk Work in Denmark (2020): https://www.workindenmark.dk Pensioni Keskus Estonia (2020): https://www.pensionikeskus.ee Social Insurance Board Estonia (2020): https://www.sotsiaalkindlustusamet.ee/et Finnish Centre for Pensions (2020): https://www.etk.fi/en Finnish Centre for Pensions – Statistical Database (2020): https://tilastot.etk.fi Social Insurance Institution of Finland (2020): https://www.kela.fi

Agirc-Arrco France (2020): https://www.agirc-arrco.fr/ Caisse des Dépôts France (2020): https://retraitesolidarite.caissedesdepots.fr Cleiss France (2020): https://www.cleiss.fr German Pension Insurance (2020): https://www.deutsche-rentenversicherung.de Greek Law Digest (2020): http://greeklawdigest.gr Government of Hong Kong (2020): https://www.gov.hk Central Administration of National Pension Insurance Hungary (2020): https://www.onyf.hu SpNews Indonesia (2020): https://spn.or.id Central Statistics Office Ireland: https://www.cso.ie Citizens Information Ireland (2020): https://www.citizensinformation.ie The Pension Authority Ireland (2020): https://www.pensionsauthority.ie/en/ National Insurance Institute of Israel (2020): https://www.btl.gov.il Italian Office of Social Welfare (2020): https://www.inps.it National Social Security Fund Kenya (2020): http://www.nssf.or.ke The Public Institution for Social Security Kuwait (2020): https://www.pifss.gov.kw Lao Service Portal (2020): http://www.laoservicesportal.gov.la Government Latvia (2020): http://lm.gov.lv Manapensija Latvia (2020): https://www.manapensija.la Doing Business in Lebanon (2020): https://doingbusinessinlebanon.com International Organization for Migration Lithuania (2020): https://www.renkuosilietuva.lt The State Social Insurance Fund Lithuania: https://www.sodra.lt Caisse nationale d'assurance pension Luxembourg (2020): https://www.cnap.lu General Inspectorate of Social Security Luxembourg (2020): https://igss.gouvernement.lu Employees Provident Fund Malaysia (2020): https://www.kwsp.gov.my Peresko Social Security Organization Malaysia (2020): https://www.perkeso.gov.my Office for Social Security Malta (2020): https://socialsecurity.gov.mt Office of the Commissioner for Revenue Malta (2020): https://irdpubserv.gov.mt Social Security Office Mexico (2020): http://www.imss.gob.mx Le devoir de vous protéger Morocco (2020): https://www.cnss.ma The Dutch Government (2020): https://www.government.nl Federation of the Dutch Pension Funds (2020): https://www.pensioenfederatie.nl Social Insurance Bank Netherlands (2020): https://www.svb.nl The New Zealand Government (2020): https://www.govt.nz Legit Nigeria (2020): https://www.legit.ng Norwegian Labour and Welfare Administration (2020): https://www.nav.no

Norwegian Tax Administration (2020): https://www.skatteetaten.no DNB Norway (2020): https://www.dnb.no Plataforma digital única del Estado Peruano (2020): https://www.gob.pe The Social Insurance Institution Poland (2020): https://lang.zus.pl Social Security Office Poland: https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/progdesc/intl\_update/2018-12/index.html Moving to Portugal (2020): https://www.movingtoportugal.pt Social Security Office Portugal (2020): http://www.seg-social.pt Government Qatar (2020): https://portal.www.gov.ga Online Qatar (2020): https://www.onlinegatar.com Euraxess Romania (2020): https://www.euraxess.gov.ro National House of Public Pensions Romania (2020): https://www.cnpp.ro Pension Fund of the Russian Federation (2020): http://www.pfrf.ru/en/ Ministry of Manpower Singapore (2020): https://www.mom.gov.sg Singapore Statutes Online (2020): https://sso.agc.gov.sg Social Insurance Agency in Slovakia (2020): https://www.socpoist.sk Mladipodjetnik Slovenia (2020): https://mladipodjetnik.si Office of Retirement and Disability Policy Slovenia (2020) Pension and Disability Insurance Institute of Slovenia (2020): https://www.zpiz.si Social protection Institute of the Republic of Slovenia (2020): https://www.irssv.si Ministry of Social Development South Africa (2020): https://www.sassa.gov.za/ South African Government (2020): https://www.gov.za Ministry of Labor and Social Economy Spain (2020): http://www.mitramiss.gob.es Ministry of Inclusion, Social Security and Migration Spain (2020): http://www.seg-social.es Office of Retirement and Disability Policy Spain (2020) Government Offices of Sweden (2020): https://www.government.se Information Centre on Compensation Offices Switzerland (2020): https://www.ahv-iv.ch The Swiss Authorities Online (2020): https://www.ch.ch Bureau of Labor Insurance Taiwan (2020): https://www.bli.gov.tw Statistical Bureau of Taiwan: https://eng.stat.gov.tw Austcham Thailand (2020): https://austchamthailandadvance.com Ministry of Labour Thailand (2020): http://www.mol.go.th Turkish Labor Law (2020): https://turkishlaborlaw.com Government of the United Arab Emirates (2020): https://government.ae Assets Publishing Service United Kingdom (2020): https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk The Pensions Regulator United Kingdom (2020): https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk Ministry of Social Policy Ukraine (2020): https://www.msp.gov.ua/en/ Administration of Social Security USA (2020): https://www.ssa.gov/planners/retire/agereduction.html Nhan Dan Vietnam (2020): https://en.nhandan.com.vn Vietnam Law and Legal Forum (2020): http://vietnamlawmagazine.vn

# **OUR TEAM**

#### Chief Economist of Allianz and Euler Hermes



Ludovic Subran Chief Economist ludovic.subran@allianz.com

#### Head of Economic Research, Euler Hermes



Alexis Garatti alexis.garatti@eulerhermes.com

#### Head of Capital Markets Research



Eric Barthalon eric.barthalon@allianz.com



Arne Holzhausen arne.holzhausen@allianz.com

Head of Insurance, Wealth and Trend Research

#### Macroeconomic Research

Ana Boata



Head of Macroeconomic Research ana.boata@eulerhermes.com



Françoise Huang Senior Economist for APAC francoise.huang@eulerhermes.com



Georges Dib Economist for Latin America, Spain, Portugal and Trade georges.dib@eulerhermes.com





Manfred Stamer Senior Economist for Middle East and Emerging Europe

manfred.stamer@eulerhermes.com

katharina.utermoehl@allianz.com

Dan North Senior Economist for North America dan.north@eulerhermes.com

Insurance, Wealth and Trends Research

Michaela Grimm

Markus Zimmer

Senior Expert, ESG

Senior Expert, Demographics

michaela.grimm@allianz.com

markus.zimmer@allianz.com

patricia.pelayo-romero@allianz.com

Patricia Pelayo Romero

Expert, Insurance

Katharina Utermöhl

Senior Economist for Europe

#### Capital Markets Research



Jordi Basco Carrera Fixed Income Strategist jordi.basco\_carrera@allianz.com



Lina Manthey Equities Strategist lina.manthey@allianz.com



Patrick Krizan Senior Economist for Italy and Greece, Fixed Income patrick.krizan@allianz.com

#### Sector Research



Maxime Lemerle Head of Sector Research maxime.lemerle@eulerhermes.com



Catharina Hillenbrand-Saponar Sector Advisor for Energy, Metals, Machinery and Equipment catharina.hillenbrand-saponar@eulerhermes.com



Marc Livinec Sector Advisor for Chemicals, Pharmaceuticals, Transportation, Agrifood and Transport Equipment marc.livinec@eulerhermes.com



Aurélien Duthoit Sector Advisor for Retail, Technology and Household Equipment aurelien.duthoit@eulerhermes.com



Selin Ozyurt Senior Economist for France and Africa selin.ozyurt@eulerhermes.com

33

# **RECENT PUBLICATIONS**

26/05/2020	<u>Global trade: Recession confirmed, watch out for a double-whammy</u> <u>blow due to protectionism</u>
19/05/2020	A German-French trial balloon on fiscal union
19/05/2020	The ECB is also here to close governments' financing gap
18/05/2020	Retail in the U.S.: Department store bankruptcies are only the tip of the iceberg
15:05/2020	Automotive in europe: -30% in 2020, In spite of active googling for new cars
15/05/2020	Germany: Q1 GDP drop only the tip of the iceberg
13/05/2020	UK: Brexit uncertainty could jeopardize the recovery in H2 2020
08/05/2020	Pensions: Corona reveals need for further pension reforms in Germany
06/05/2020	<u>Global trade: Covid-19 losses equivalent to a return to 1994 tariffs</u>
05/05/2020	Emerging markets: Capital outflows bottomed out but beware of weak spots
30/04/2020	Eurozone: Black hole economics
30/04/2020	ECB: Show and tell
24/04/2020	Retail in Germany: A very slow exit from lockdown
22/04/2020	Europe should unlock excess savings from Covid-19 response
17/04/2020	<u>Fed bazooka: A long shot</u>
17/04/2020	China: In search of lost demand
16/04/2020	Exiting the lockdowns: A tale of four stories
09/04/2020	Covid-19 to increase U.S. delinquency rate by 6.5% and insolvencies by 25% in 2020
09/04/2020	<u>Oil: The floods</u>

Discover all our publications on our websites: <u>Allianz Research</u> and <u>Euler Hermes Economic Research</u>

Director of Publications: Ludovic Subran, Chief Economist Allianz and Euler Hermes Phone +33 1 84 11 35 64

Allianz Research	Euler Hermes Economic Research
<u>https://www.allianz.com/en/</u> <u>economic_research</u>	<u> http://www.eulerhermes.com/economic-</u> <u>research</u>
Königinstraße 28   80802 Munich   Germany allianz.research@allianz.com	1 Place des Saisons   92048 Paris-La-Défense Cedex   France research@eulerhermes.com
in allianz	
🥑 @allianz	@eulerhermes

# FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained herein may include prospects, statements of future expectations and other forward-looking statements that are based on management's current views and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Actual results, performance or events may differ materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements.

Such deviations may arise due to, without limitation, (i) changes of the general economic conditions and competitive situation, particularly in the Allianz Group's core business and core markets, (ii) performance of financial markets (particularly market volatility, liquidity and credit events), (iii) frequency and severity of insured loss events, including from natural catastrophes, and the development of loss expenses, (iv) mortality and morbidity levels and trends, (v) persistency levels, (vi) particularly in the banking business, the extent of credit defaults, (vii) interest rate levels, (viii) currency exchange rates including the EUR/USD exchange rate, (ix) changes in laws and regulations, including tax regulations, (x) the impact of acquisitions, including related integration issues, and reorganization measures, and (xi) general competitive factors, in each case on a local, regional, national and/or global basis. Many of these factors may be more likely to occur, or more pronounced, as a result of terrorist activities and their consequences.

# NO DUTY TO UPDATE

The company assumes no obligation to update any information or forward-looking statement contained herein, save for any information required to be disclosed by law.